CASE #: S245395

SUPREME	COURT CASE NO.	

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### ANGIE CHRISTENSEN,

PLAINTIFF AND RESPONDENT,

v.

WILL LIGHTBOURNE, DIRECTOR, CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES; CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,

DEFENDANTS AND APPELLANTS.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division Two, No. A144254

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of San Francisco County Case No. CPF-12-512070, Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith, Judge

### PETITION FOR REVIEW

STEPHANIE E. HAFFNER, SBN 194192 RICHARD A. ROTHSCHILD, SBN 67356

WESTERN CENTER ON LAW & POVERTY

### **Issues Presented for Review**

- 1. California's CalWORKs program supports children in the homes of very poor families. Eligibility for and the amount of aid depends on the amount of income already available to the household. May income that is paid as court-ordered child support for children in other homes be considered available to children in the home of the paying parent?
- 2. Welfare and Institutions Code section 11005.51 prohibits one family's "income or resources" from being considered in determining the amount of aid to any other family. Where garnished child support is the direct or indirect income of the receiving children, does the state violate section 11005.5 when it allows the garnished income to also be considered in determining the amount of aid to the paying family?

## Introduction

Angie Christensen's family was denied public assistance because the government counted the family as having money it never had and never will receive: her husband's wages and unemployment garnished to pay child support owed to another family. Ms. Christensen sued the Department of Social Services and won in the trial court, but the Court of Appeal reversed, upholding the Department's policy of counting child support paid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Section or § refers to the Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

to another family as available to the family of the paying parent.

If the published opinion below is allowed to stand, not just Ms. Christensen's family but similarly situated families throughout California will be harmed. CalWORKs serves nearly a million California children.<sup>2</sup> Grants are already low, less than 30% of the federal poverty line.<sup>3</sup> Whenever the Department enforces the policy at issue here and cash aid is reduced even further or, as in Ms. Christensen's case, denied altogether, families will suffer. They will have to make choices between putting food on the table or paying rent, in some cases risking eviction and homelessness. The human cost alone of the Department's policy justifies granting review.

The opinion below also conflicts with long-standing case law requiring that only resources actually available for the needs of a family may be counted to reduce the family's aid or deny eligibility. More than 40 years ago, this Court decided that theoretical resources that cannot be accessed by a needy individual or family may not be considered available financial resources. *Mooney v. Pickett*, 4 Cal.3d 669, 679-80 (1971). This Court further invalidated as "arbitrary" and "impermissible" regulations that deemed financial resources available without

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Cal. Dep't of Soc. Serv's, "CalWORKs – California Families on the Road to Self-Sufficiency, Annual Summary January 2017" (CalWORKs 2017 Annual Summary) at 113, available at Exhibit B hereto (select portions) and at

http://www.cdss.ca.gov/research/res/pdf/calreports/CalWORKsAnnualSummary2017.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Id.* at 25 (average grants are \$514/month); Dep't of Health & Hum. Serv's, "Annual Update of the HHS Poverty Guidelines" (2017 Poverty Guidelines), 82 Fed.Reg. 8831, 8832 (Jan. 31, 2017) (federal poverty level is \$20,420/year for a family of three, or \$1701.67/month).

considering their actual availability. *Cooper v. Swoap*, 11 Cal.3d 856, 870-71 (1974); *Waits v. Swoap* 11 Cal.3d 887, 894-95 (1974).

No statute directs the Department to count income that families pay to support children in other homes as available to the paying family. The CalWORKs and child support laws work in tandem to secure an appropriate amount of financial support to children. Yet, the result of the Court of Appeal's decision is for the children in one home to suffer simply because an adult in the home is meeting his financial obligation to children outside the home. This result contravenes the purpose of CalWORKs and child support laws and interferes with parents' rights of association in forming relationships and family bonds.

In addition, the Court of Appeal opinion cannot be reconciled with section 11005.5. That statute inscribes a crucial principle in welfare law – that a single source of funds may not be considered twice to two households. Section 11005.5 has only been interpreted by the Court of Appeal and never by this Court. The decision below conflicts with other appellate courts' interpretations and allows the Department to ignore section 11005.5's proscription against using the same funds to reduce the amount of aid to two households.

This Court should grant review.

//

//

//

### Statement of the Case

1. The Department of Social Services, reversing previous practice, adopts policy counting child support paid to another family as income to the paying parent.

CalWORKs, or the California Work Opportunity and Responsibility to Kids Act, is the state's program to aid poor families. §§11200; 11250. CalWORKs replaced the federal Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC) program after Congress enacted federal welfare reform legislation. Assemb. Bill 1542, Stats. 1997, ch. 270 (AB 1542).

To qualify for CalWORKs, families must be poor. Applicant families must pass a gross income test, wherein "the family's income," except for the first \$90 of earned income, must fall below the minimum need standard for the family's size. §11450.12(a). A net income test then determines how much aid an applicant or recipient family is entitled to. Under this test, the family's "reasonably anticipated income, less exempt income," is subtracted from the Maximum Aid Payment for a family of its size. §§11450(a); 11450.12(b). In 2010, the Maximum Aid Payment in San Mateo County was \$828 for a family of four;<sup>4</sup> the figure is \$852 today,<sup>5</sup> less than half of the federal poverty line.<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Christensen v. Lightbourne, No. A144254 (1st App.Dist., Div.2, Oct. 6, 2017) ("Opinion") at 8, n.13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ex. B, CalWORKs 2017 Annual Summary at 24 (Non-Exempt amount in Region 1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 2017 Poverty Guidelines, 82 Fed.Reg. at 8832 (\$24,600/year for a family of four, or \$2,050/month, divided into \$862 per month, is just 42% of the federal poverty level).

Prior to AB 1542, California's AFDC program, when considering whether and how much aid a poor family would need, did not count the child support that is paid pursuant to court order. *Opinion* at 6. Even though AB 1542 does not state that it is repealing the prior rule to disregard income paid in support of children in other homes, after AB 1542 the Department of Social Services began to count income paid as child support for children in other homes as if it were available to the children in the paying home. *Opinion* at 5.

2. The Christensen family applies for CalWORKs cash aid, but is disqualified because of wages and benefits that are never received by the family but instead garnished to support Bruce Christensen's children outside the home.

In October 2010, Angie Christensen applied for CalWORKs cash aid to financially support the children in her home. *Id.* at 7. Although her husband Bruce had income from wages and unemployment benefits, court-ordered child support was garnished from those funds. *Id.* The garnished income provided for children in other homes – one child whose mother also received CalWORKs, one child who was not assisted by CalWORKs at that time, and one child who was an adult and for whom support payments were for arrearages. *Id.* at 8. Had the garnished child support been excluded, the Christensen children would have been eligible to receive CalWORKs cash assistance. *Id.*; Admin. Rec. (AR) at 3, 5 (lodged April 27, 2015) [Dir.'s Alternate Dec. (Mar. 24, 2011)]. Instead, counting the garnished income, San Mateo County denied aid to the Christensens. *Id.* 

3. An administrative law judge concludes the child support payments Bruce Christensen makes are not available to meet the Christensen family's needs, but the Director of Department of Social Services reverses the decision.

Ms. Christensen requested a fair hearing, asserting that the child support garnished from her husband's wages and unemployment should not count as income to her family. *Opinion* at 8. The administrative law judge who heard the case agreed. *Id.* The judge explained, "To be considered in determining the cash ... aid payment, income must, in fact" be "available ... to needy members of the family in meeting their needs ...." AR at 9 [Proposed Hearing Dec. (Feb. 24, 2011)]. The judge concluded that the garnished child support "is not available to meet the needs" of the Christensen children, and instructed the county welfare department to reevaluate the application, excluding the child support garnished from Bruce Christensen's earned and unearned income. *Id.* 

But the Department reversed and issued an alternate decision. *Opinion* at 8-9. Although the Department's director adopted the underlying facts, he reversed the ALJ's decision on the ground that no regulation expressly exempts income that is paid outside the home for child support. *Id.* He relied on the Department's policy announced in a letter to all counties, which instructs counties to treat child support payments as income to the children in the paying family. *Id.* at 9, citing All County Letter 97-59 (Oct. 14, 1997).

4. Trial court concludes that child support payments that are transferred to other homes are not reasonably anticipated to meet the Christensen family's needs, but Court of Appeal reverses.

Ms. Christensen filed a petition for writ of mandate (Code of Civil Procedure section 1085), administrative mandate (Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5), and declaratory relief. *Opinion* at 9. The trial court granted administrative mandate and declaratory relief (*id.* at 9), ruling that the Department's "policy to count court-ordered child support payments as available income of the CalWORKs applicants and recipients who pay support, is invalid." Clerk's Transcript, Vol. 2 (2CT) at 619 (filed Apr. 20, 2015) [Order Directing Issuance of Writ of Mandate, etc. (Order) (Nov. 24, 2014)].

The trial court concluded that "child support that is transferred to children that live outside the home is not available to needy members of the family." *Opinion* at 9; Order, 2CT at 618. The court also declared that the Department's interpretation violated section 11005.5, under which the same funds shall not be considered in determining the amount of aid to two recipient groups. *Opinion* at 9-10; Order, 2CT at 618.

The Court of Appeal reversed, deferring to the Department's statutory and regulatory interpretations. *Opinion* at 2. Although recognizing that no statute directs the Department's policy, the Court of Appeal was concerned that "no limiting principle" would prevent a decision that garnished child support is not available income from applying equally to any other income garnishment. *Id.* at 16-19. The court also held that

the Department's policy does not violate section 11005.5. *Id.* at 19.

Ms. Christensen did not request rehearing.

## Reasons for Granting Review

I. This Court should settle the important question of available financial resources in the State's welfare program that supports children, and should secure uniformity with the principles announced in *Mooney, Cooper* and *Waits*.

The Court of Appeal opinion disregards the principle of availability as a matter of deference to the Department. *Id.* at 16. "An important corollary of agency interpretations, however, is their diminished power to bind. Because an interpretation is an agency's *legal opinion*, however 'expert,' ... it commands a commensurably lesser degree of judicial deference." *Yamaha Corp. of Am. v. State Bd. of Equalization*, 19 Cal.4th 1, 11 (1998). This Court should consider whether such deference is appropriate where no statute directs the Department's policy, this Court and other California Courts of Appeal have repeatedly ruled that California welfare programs do not count theoretical resources, and the Department's interpretation conflicts with the purpose of the CalWORKs and child support statutes.

//

//

//

A. To count funds transferred from one family to support children in another home, as available to the needs of poor children who live with the paying parent conflicts with a uniform body of California case law.

This Court has not considered income availability in a means-tested public benefits program since its decisions in 1971 and 1974. But at that time the Court made clear that theoretical resources do not count. Multiple Courts of Appeal that have considered the question have reached the same conclusion. The availability principle is even written into the Department's own regulation. There is no question that the garnished child support is a fictional resource that will never be available to feed or clothe the children in the Christensen home.

In Mooney v. Pickett, 4 Cal.3d 669, this Court held that the economic resource of employability (physical and mental fitness for work) may not be used to disqualify a person from eligibility for county General Assistance cash aid. Id. at 679-80. The Mooney Court reasoned that "theoretical employability is a barren resource; it is inedible; it provides neither shelter nor any other necessity of life." Id. at 680. Here, similarly, court-ordered child support garnished for children in other homes is only theoretically available to the Christensen children. In reality, it "provides [them] neither shelter nor any other necessity of life." Id.

Similarly, in *Cooper v. Swoap*, 11 Cal.3d 856, this Court held that "noncash economic benefits" such as shared housing may not count as income in California welfare programs that

provide cash assistance to families. The Court ruled that "constructive presumptions of income" were not permissible. Id. at 870 (quotation marks and citation omitted). The Court reasoned that imputing constructive income without regard to actual availability is "arbitrary"; counting "fictional" economic benefits "improperly reduce[s] the already meagre grants on which the children must seek to survive." Id. In a companion case, this Court in Waits v Swoap, 11 Cal.3d 887, rejected a similar welfare regulation, based on similar reasoning, holding that it is improper to deem income from nonneedy relatives who are not legally obligated to provide support. Id. at 894. The Waits Court held, "Only the actual value of ... [financial] benefits received could possibly constitute income to the recipient." Id. at 894-95 (quoting Cooper, 11 Cal.3d at 870) (emphasis in original).

Here, contrary to the rules announced in *Waits* and *Cooper*, the Court of Appeal opinion sanctions the Department's imputing of income that is paid as a matter of law to children outside the home. It is "arbitrary" to impute such "fictional" economic benefits to the Christensen children, improperly reducing the already meagre funds on which the children must seek to survive. *Cooper*, 11 Cal.3d at 870.

Other appellate courts that have considered the question of availability in welfare cash assistance programs similarly have concluded that economic resources must be available to be counted. In *Galster v. Woods*, 173 Cal.App.3d 529 (1985), the Court of Appeal invalidated an AFDC rule to count as "available" to the family real property that may legally be liquidated but is "not actually available." *Id.* at 544. The court considered whether

real estate was available "in terms of providing for a needy child on a day-to-day-basis," where petitioners did not control it or were unable to sell it. *Id.* at 540. The practice of counting such real estate as an available resource unlawfully "hindered" the "paramount goal of providing assistance to needy children and their families" by denying the opportunity to demonstrate that the resources "are not actually available." *Id.* at 544.

Likewise, in *McCormick v. County of Alameda*, 193
Cal.App.4th 201 (2011), Alameda County denied General
Assistance to a boy on the ground that he was technically part of a CalWORKs assistance unit, even though he was receiving no cash aid. *Id.* at 206-207. The Court of Appeal held that it was improper to deny aid on the basis of an asserted resource – being part of a CalWORKs household – where that resource did not actually exist to meet his subsistence needs. *Id.* at 214, 218. And in *Rogers v. Detrich*, 58 Cal.App.3d 90, 101 (1976), the Court of Appeal invalidated the practice of counting other persons' SSI disability benefits as available to applicants for General Assistance, because those funds were for other persons' needs.

Indeed, the Department's own regulation, Manual of Policies and Procedures (MPP) section 44-101(a), inscribes this principle. It provides, "To be considered in determining the cash aid payment, income must be reasonably anticipated to be available to needy members of the family in meeting their needs...." MPP §44-101(a).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 2CT at 509; CalWORKs MPP chapters are available at <a href="http://www.cdss.ca.gov/inforesources/Letters-Regulations/Legislation-and-Regulations/CalWORKs-CalFresh-Regulations/Eligibility-and-Assistance-Standards">http://www.cdss.ca.gov/inforesources/Letters-Regulations/Legislation-and-Regulations/CalWORKs-CalFresh-Regulations/Eligibility-and-Assistance-Standards</a>.

The funds garnished to support children in other homes do not support the needs of the children in the Christensen's home and thus may not be considered available to the family. The income that has been diverted from its source to provide for children outside of Ms. Christensen's home is "not actually available" to meet her own family's needs, "in terms of providing for [her children] on a day-to-day basis." *Galster*, 173 Cal.App.3d. at 540, 544.

B. The Court of Appeal opinion conflicts with the purposes of both CalWORKs and child support, which operate jointly to secure financial support for all children.

The Court of Appeal opinion in this case disregards the availability principles announced by this Court and other appellate courts, claiming there is no logical limit that would not reach other garnished funds. *Opinion* at 16-19. The Court of Appeal reasoned that if garnished child support is not countable income because such amounts are not "available to needy members of the family in meeting their needs," then "any amounts garnished from income would likewise not count as income." *Id.* at 17. In considering whether child support uniquely benefits only the children in other homes, the Court of Appeal determined that child support obligations "cannot meaningfully [be] distinguish[ed] ... from any other debt that may lead to garnishment of income." *Id.* at 18.

But child support is different from other obligations, and the context is important. Here the context is the intertwined functions of CalWORKs and child support which both operate to support children financially while respecting parents' rights and obligations to provide such support. Moreover, child support itself is unique. That it is difficult to draw a line does not mean it should not be drawn. This Court should revisit the law of availability in context.

This case implicates two critical statutory schemes that protect children's financial wellbeing: CalWORKs and child support. The discussion of section 11005.5 in section II below reveals how they are also deeply interconnected. Under the Family Code, "the father and mother of a minor child have an equal responsibility to support their child in the manner suitable to the child's circumstances." Fam. Code §3900. When a family is granted CalWORKs, the absent parent "shall be obligated to the county" to reimburse the support. *Id.*, §17402. Accordingly, CalWORKs applicants, with limited exceptions, must assign their rights to support and cooperate with collection efforts. §11477. The assignment remains in place until the total amount of CalWORKs aid is repaid. §11477(a)(2).

CalWORKs manifests the Legislature's purpose: "Adequate support for all of the needy children of California's working poor is a matter of priority." Sneed v. Saenz,, 120 Cal.App.4th 1220, 1229 (2004) (emphasis in original). The provisions of law relating to CalWORKs must be "fairly and equitably construed to effect the stated objects and purposes of the program." §11000. As the Legislature "finds and declares," "[e]ach family has the right and responsibility to provide sufficient support and protection of its children...." §11205. Rather than further the purpose of adequate support for all of the needy children of California's working poor,

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