**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**ANGIE CHRISTENSEN,**

**Plaintiff and Respondent,**

**v.**

**WILL LIGHTBOURNE, DIRECTOR,  
CALIFORNIA DEPARTMENT OF  
SOCIAL SERVICES; CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES,**

**Defendants and  
Appellants.**

Case No. S245395

First Appellate District, Case No. A144254  
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. CPF-12-512070  
Honorable Ernest H. Goldsmith, Judge

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

XAVIER BECERRA  
Attorney General of California  
JULIE WENG-GUTIERREZ  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
SUSAN M. CARSON  
Supervising Deputy Attorney General  
\*JENNIFER A. BUNSHOFT  
Deputy Attorney General

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

### **WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

Plaintiff contends that this Court should grant review for two reasons. Both lack merit. First, she contends that the Court of Appeal’s decision conflicts with the principle of “income availability” articulated in prior decisions and that the Court should “settle the important question of available financial resources” in the CalWORKs program. This argument is based on a mischaracterization of the Court’s decision, which creates no conflict with precedent. The Court’s straightforward application of case law affording deference to an agency’s interpretations of the laws it implements to the Department’s interpretation of its own CalWORKs regulations does not raise an important issue requiring this Court’s review.

Second, she argues that the Court of Appeal should “settle the important question” of the meaning of section 11005.5. This argument, too, is based on a misreading of the Court’s decision. It did not resolve the interpretation of section 11005.5. Instead, the Court declined to reach this issue because it determined that, even assuming that plaintiff’s interpretation of section 11005.5 were correct, on the facts of this case, no violation occurred. Further review is unwarranted.

#### **I. THE COURT OF APPEAL’S DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT’S PRECEDENT**

Applying this Court’s precedent, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that the Department’s interpretation of its own CalWORKs

regulations limiting countable income to that which is “reasonably anticipated to be available” was reasonable and worthy of deference. (Opn. 16-19.) It reached this conclusion after applying the factors set forth in this Court’s prior decisions on agency deference, which required that it “not overturn the Department’s policy of counting child support as income to the payer’s assistance unit, unless it is clearly erroneous or unauthorized under the applicable statutes and regulations.” (Opn. 11-14 [discussing *Larkin v. W.C.A.B.* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 152, 158; *Yamaha Corp. of America v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 1, 7, 12-13; *Sara M. v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 998, 1012; and *Sharon S. v. Superior Court* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 417, 436].) It found that the Department “offered a reasonable interpretation of its own regulation,” and that plaintiff’s contrary interpretation was unreasonable because it “would result in *all* mandatory garnishments from income being exempted from income in determining CalWORKs eligibility.” (Opn. 19.)

Plaintiff’s arguments that the Court of Appeal’s decision conflicts with the principle of availability articulated in prior cases, and raises important, unsettled questions of law regarding available financial resources in the CalWORKs program lack merit.

**A. The Court of Appeal’s Decision Does Not Conflict with any General “Principle of Availability” Articulated in Prior Cases**

Plaintiff’s assertion that the Court of Appeal’s decision conflicts with this Court’s precedent regarding a general “principle of availability” for aid programs is incorrect. As a preliminary matter, eligibility for one aid program generally does not entitle someone to eligibility in another aid program, because income “exclusions and exemptions vary widely between programs.” (MPP § 44-111.1; CT 519.) Thus, plaintiff’s argument about the treatment of income in other welfare programs has no bearing on

whether child support payments should be considered income in the CalWORKS program.

But even assuming there is some such general principle, the argument fails. In support of her argument, plaintiff first cites a few cases issued by this Court in the 1970s and a few court of appeal cases, which involve the AFDC program, General Assistance, and other non-CalWORKS programs. (Pet. 16-19.) None of the reasoning in the cited cases regarding the availability of income or resources conflicts with the Court of Appeal's decision here. For example, in *Mooney v. Pickett* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 669, this Court held that General Assistance should not be denied to "employable" single men solely on the ground that they are theoretically "employable," even if they are not employed and there was no indication that a job awaits them. (*Id.* at pp. 679-680.) Likewise, in *Cooper v. Swoap* (1974) 121 Cal.3d 856, this Court held that a regulation that treated "noncash economic benefits," such as shared housing, as income to reduce AFDC grants, and assigned a fictional value to such benefits, was invalid. (*Id.* at pp. 867-870, 873.) *Waits v. Swoap* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 887, similarly confirmed that non-cash economic benefits, namely shared housing provided by "nonneedy" relatives, should not be deemed income of the AFDC recipient and deducted from the recipient's grant. (*Id.* at pp. 891-894.) In *Galster v. Woods* (1985) 173 Cal.App.3d 529, with respect to the individual plaintiffs in the case, the court deemed improper the policy of construing an AFDC program regulation to presume that real property was an "available" resource, even where the evidence showed that the unliquidated resource was not actually able to be converted to a liquidated resource to be used by the family. (*Id.* at pp. 537-538, 544.) Finally, *McCormick v. County of Alameda* (2011) 193 Cal.App.4th 201, invalidated a regulation to the extent it denied General Assistance to a child whose family did not receive any

cash assistance from CalWORKs, but rather only received food stamps and Medi-Cal benefits. (*Id.* at pp. 217-218.)<sup>2</sup>

None of the above cases stands for a general principle regarding available income that is applicable here. They addressed issues of theoretical “employability,” non-cash economic benefits, unliquidated property that was unable to be sold, and denying General Assistance aid based on other aid that was not actually received. Here, in contrast, plaintiff’s husband was receiving a steady paycheck through his employment and unemployment insurance benefits. (Opn. 7, 8 fn. 13; AR 3.) Neither his paycheck nor his unemployment insurance payments are theoretical or fictional sources of income. As the Court of Appeal determined, such income was reasonably anticipated to be received during the CalWORKs budgeting period, and therefore properly counted as plaintiff’s household’s available income, subject to the earned income disregard, in determining CalWORKs eligibility. (Opn. 14-19 [explaining that “available” in this context means “reasonably anticipated income” in the upcoming semi-annual reporting period]; Opn. 18 [“MPP section 44-102.1 specifies that all ‘reasonable anticipated income’ is, by definition, ‘available to meet the needs of the’ family.”]) Accordingly, there is no conflict between those decisions and the Court of Appeal’s decision here.

**B. The Petition Does Not Raise Any Important, Unsettled Questions of Law Regarding Available Financial Resources in CalWORKs**

---

<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff also cites *Rogers v. Dietrich* (1976) 58 Cal.App.3d 90, which concluded that SSI/SSP aid received by a family member should not be considered in determining eligibility for General Assistance for the household. (*Id.* at pp. 96-99, 105-106.) *Rogers* has no bearing on this case, where the denial of CalWORKs to plaintiff’s household was not based on the inclusion of any government aid as income of the household.

As stated above, the Department's regulation, MPP section 44-101(a), provides: "To be considered in determining the cash aid payment, income must be reasonably anticipated to be available to needy members of the family in meeting their needs during the . . . Payment Period." (MPP § 44-101(a).) The Court of Appeal was "skeptical of [plaintiff's] interpretation" of this regulation to exclude income garnished for child support obligations, which "would apply equally to *any* deduction or withholding from paychecks." (Opn. 16.) It agreed with the Department that, by plaintiff's reasoning, "any applicant for aid who has money deducted from his [or her] paycheck regarding any type of debt, such as a garnishment of wages by the IRS for delinquent past taxes owed or for debts owed to a creditor, could argue under the same reasoning that such funds are not 'available' to meet their household[']s needs and should not be counted as 'income' in determining CalWORKs aid." (*Ibid.*) It recognized that plaintiff's position is problematic because it "contains no limiting principle." (Opn. 17.) It found that "if garnished child support is not income under MPP section 44-101(a) because such amounts are not 'available to needy members of the family in meeting their needs,' then any amounts garnished from income would likewise not count as income," which would create a "potentially limitless exception which finds no support in the statutory structure or purpose of CalWORKs." (*Ibid.*)

As the Court of Appeal recognized, the United States Supreme Court rejected a similar argument that mandatory payroll deductions should be excluded from income when determining eligibility for welfare programs, due, in part, to the lack of a limiting principle between mandatory tax withholdings and other sums mandatorily withheld for obligations such as union dues, medical insurance, or retirement programs, which "no more pass through the wage earners hands than do mandatory tax withholdings." (*Heckler v. Turner* (1985) 470 U.S. 184, 202.) The Supreme Court

explained that “actual availability” served a different purpose—not to allow an applicant to argue that his or her income should be deemed to be lower, but instead “to prevent the States from conjuring fictional sources of income and resources by imputing financial support from persons who have no obligations to furnish it or by overvaluing assets in a manner that attributes nonexistent resources to recipients.” (*Id.* at p. 200.)

Plaintiff asserts that child support is “unique” and “different” from other debts. (Pet. 19-20.) She notes that a family that is granted CalWORKs must assign its rights to child support to the county, and the noncustodial parent has the responsibility to pay the child support to the county. (Pet. 20.) But funds garnished for non-child support debts may be no more “available” to the family than funds garnished for child support, regardless of to whom they are paid. She also argues that child support must be paid before other debts owed to creditors. (Pet. 21.) But the order of payment of debts is a distinction without meaningful significance here.

Thus, the Court of Appeal properly rejected plaintiff’s argument that garnished child support should be disregarded because “she cannot meaningfully distinguish child support obligations from any other debt that may lead to garnishment of income.” (Opn. 18.) The Court of Appeal’s decision is soundly reasoned, and does not warrant further review.

**II. THE PETITION DOES NOT RAISE ANY IMPORTANT, UNSETTLED QUESTIONS OF LAW REGARDING THE INTERPRETATION OF WELFARE AND INSTITUTIONS CODE SECTION 11005.5**

**A. The Court of Appeal Found It Unnecessary to Resolve the Interpretation of Section 11005.5, Thus that Issue Is Not Properly Presented in this Case**

Plaintiff’s assertion that this case raises an important question of law concerning the proper interpretation of section 11005.5 is incorrect. (Pet. 23.) As a threshold matter, this issue was not decided by the Court of

Appeal and is not properly presented in this case. The Court of Appeal determined that it did not need to resolve this issue because, even assuming plaintiff's interpretation of section 11005.5 is correct, the Department's decision still would not violate section 11005.5, and plaintiff still would not be eligible for benefits. (Opn. 21, fn 25.)

Section 11005.5 provides that

[a]id granted under this part or Part A of Title XVI of the Social Security Act to a recipient or recipient group and the income or resources of such recipient or recipient group shall not be considered in determining eligibility for or the amount of aid of any other recipient or recipient group.

(Welf. & Inst. Code, § 11005.5.) Plaintiff referred to this as a prohibition on "double counting" income, and the Court of Appeal used plaintiff's characterization in its decision as shorthand. (Opn. 22-23.) In briefing before the Court of Appeal, the parties disputed whether this prohibition on "double counting" applies to applicants for CalWORKs, or only to recipients of CalWORKs benefits, and whether it applies to two separate households, or only to those within the same household. However, the Court of Appeal correctly determined that it did not need to decide these issues because, even assuming plaintiff's interpretation is correct, plaintiff has failed to show that the Department engaged in any "double counting" of income. (Opn. 20-22 & fn. 25.) The issues concerning the proper interpretation of section 11005.5 are not properly presented in this case.

**B. The Court of Appeal's Ruling on Asserted "Double Counting" Is Limited to the Facts of This Case and Presents No Basis for Further Review**

Alternatively, plaintiff attacks the Court of Appeal decision by challenging its finding that under the facts presented in this case regarding her family, there is no evidence of "double counting." Relatedly, plaintiff contends that the Court of Appeal should have ruled on the hypothetical

possibility that “double counting” of income may have occurred in some other context. Neither presents a basis for review.

The Court of Appeal, for the sake of argument, accepted plaintiff’s premise that counting income that was subject to child support garnishment from plaintiff’s household’s income in determining CalWORKs eligibility would violate section 11005.5 if the child support was also counted as the income of the custodial parent for purposes of CalWORKs eligibility. It then examined the law and facts to determine if such “double counting” occurred in this case. Specifically, the Court examined the relevant statutes, regulations, and the Declaration of the Program Policy Manager of the CalWORKs Eligibility Bureau, which all confirmed that because child support paid on behalf of a child receiving CalWORKs with the custodial parent is required to be assigned to the county and state, it is not received by the custodial parent’s family and is *not* considered income to the recipient family. (Opn. 21; Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 11457, subd. (b), 11487, 11487.1; Decl. of Shawn Dorris, ¶ 22.) Therefore, it correctly rejected plaintiff’s assertion to the contrary, and found that “child support is not received by families receiving CalWORKs cash aid and is not counted as income to them.” (Opn. 21-22.)<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> Plaintiff disputes this determination, arguing that “double counting” of income occurs in all cases where the child on whose behalf child support is garnished from the income of a CalWORKs applicant or recipient is on CalWORKs. (Pet. 28-31.) Her incorrect argument is based on *County of Yolo v. Francis* (1986) 179 Cal.App.3d 647, a case she failed to cite in prior briefing. That court observed that section 11005.5 would prohibit “attaching, garnishing or executing upon” the noncustodial parent’s AFDC grant to pay child support that reimburses another child’s AFDC. (*Id.* at p. 656.) Counting garnished child support paid on behalf of a child outside the home as part of the family’s gross income in determining aid eligibility or amount is far different from “attaching, garnishing or executing upon” a  
(continued...)

The Court of Appeal noted the two current exceptions to this general rule: (1) child support arrears that accumulate during a period when a family is not receiving CalWORKs aid are paid directly to the family and treated as income; and (2) “safety net” cases, where only the child is being supported with cash aid, and the child support payments currently are paid directly to the family and treated as unearned income to the family. (Opn. 22; Welf. & Inst. Code, §§ 11454, 11477, subd. (c).) It found there was no evidence that the amounts garnished from plaintiff’s husband’s income were for pre-aid arrears or that the child receiving aid was a safety-net child. (Opn. 22.) Thus, the Court of Appeal concluded that “it cannot be said that [plaintiff’s husband’s] garnished child support payments were considered income to the assistance unit of the child receiving aid, and [plaintiff’s] ‘double counting’ argument fails.” (Opn. 22.) Plaintiff’s challenge to the Court of Appeal’s *factual* determination that no “double counting” of income occurred here is not a proper basis for this Court’s review.

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